The Major Problems Men Face During and After Incarceration:

A Literature Review on the Effects of the Prison System

Spring 2020

Table of Contents	
Research Question	
Introduction	6
Methods)
Results	6
Aging10-11	
Physical Health11-12	
Mental Health13-14	
Access to Healthcare14	
Overcrowding & Violence14	
Insufficient Re-entry Support15	
Recidivism15-16	
Discussion	22
Summary of Findings16	
Possible Solutions	
Prison Reform20-21	
Limitations21-22	
Implications for Future Research22	
Conclusion	22
References	3-28

Question: What are the major issues men of all races are facing during and after incarceration in the United States?

Introduction

America's Prison System

Mass incarceration in America is unlike any other country. More people are living in prison in one state in America than people imprisoned in entire countries (Wagner & Sawyer, 2018). China and India which have a population of over one billion people have fewer prisoners than single states in America per 100,000 people (Wagner & Sawyer, 2018). Having over two thousand state and federal prisons and over three thousand jails to house the biggest prison population in the world is unnecessary and expensive. The United States makes up about 4.31% of the population but houses over 22% of the world's prisoners (Wagner & Sawyer, 2018). *Health in Prison*

One can calculate a person's body mass index (BMI) by measuring their height and weight, and a person with a BMI of 25.0-30.0 is overweight while a person with a BMI of 30.1 above is obese. People with a high (BMI) are at risk for stroke, Type 2 Diabetes, low quality of health, mental illness, pain, and heart disease (Center for Disease Control, 2020). People in prison have a higher risk of developing chronic diseases because of a lack of routine care, and it is reported that 74% of people in prisons are overweight or obese (Maruschak, Berzofsky, & Unangst, 2015). The rate of infection for Tuberculosis (TB), Hepatitis C, and Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) is substantially higher in individuals in prison (Cropsey, Binswanger, Brendan Clark, & Taxman, 2012; Macmadu & Rich, 2015). The prevalence of HIV in prisons is four to five times higher than in the rest of the American population (Macmadu & Rich, 2015). A person in a prison has nine to ten times higher chance of having Hepatitis C than

the rest of the population. Tuberculosis is moderately rare in the general population affecting about 1%; prisons have reported that 20 to 25% of people test positive for TB (Macmadu & Rich, 2015). Hepatitis and Tuberculosis both have vaccinations and treatments, yet the prevalence is still very high meaning there is not enough access to these vaccinations which can cause spreading.

Modern-Day Slavery

According to Dr. Ashley Nellis from The Sentencing Project, African Americans have a five times higher risk of being incarcerated compared to White people, and in some states, Black people can have a ten times higher risk of incarceration (Nellis, 2016). Hispanics are three times more likely than White people to be incarcerated. It is hypothesized that if incarceration continues to grow as it has been, one in fifteen White people and one in three Black people born after 2001 will face incarceration (Ahalt, Trestman, Rich, Greifinger, & Williams, 2013; Schnittker, Uggen, Shannon, & McElrath, 2015). Arrests made are targeted toward people of color specifically Black people. Black people make up 14% of the population, yet in 2016, 27% of arrests were Black people (The Sentencing Project, 2018). This increase in racial biasing is not ethical and comes from a racist routed past.

War on Drugs

The War on Drugs allowed for police to target people of color (The Sentencing Project, 2018). Prisons and jails are disproportionately filled with people of color as a result. Richard Nixon declaring the beginning of the War on Drugs caused a ripple effect of harsh sentencing and policing toward people of color (NPR, 2007). Ronald Reagan then signs a bill into law in 1986 for harsher sentencing for crack instead of powder cocaine which in turn targeted people of color with a low socioeconomic status because crack is cheaper than powder (NPR, 2007). This

bill allotted for one 1.7 billion dollars toward drug policing and eventually, the War on Drugs alone has cost America one trillion dollars (NPR, 2007; Pearl, 2018). Even though African Americans make up 12.5% of people who use drugs, 30% of arrests for drug charges are Black people (Pearl, 2018). In 1995, the racial disparity was evident in prisons, but Congress overrode the suggestion to lower sentencing for crack cocaine. This targeting is not limited to drug crimes, but Black people are more likely to get pulled, searched, and arrested (The Sentencing Project, 2018).

The past is very important to look at when examining at studies about prisons, because race affects risk of incarceration, as well as health inside and outside of the prison system. This literature review does not solely focus on people of color; however, throughout the studies, it is evident that race and ethnicity are major components in measuring outcomes.

Aging

There is a high aging population in prison because of the War on Drugs adding harsh sentencing and racial targeting. Aging in the incarceration system is becoming a major ethical and financial problem for the United States. From 1993 to 2013 there was a 400% increase in people incarcerated from ages 30-36 years old (Psick, Ahalt, Brown, & Simon, 2017). Aging in prison starts at a much younger age than aging in the rest of the country. People in prison that are 50 years and older report having more chronic and infectious diseases than younger people (Maruschak et al., 2015). The people aging in prison require constant professional care within the confines of a prison. (Macmadu & Rich, 2015). Once released, older adults seek care from their communities which is also insufficient for their needs and leads to overcrowding the medical system in America. This leads to rearrests, homelessness, mortality, and hospitalization (Ahalt et al., 2013).

The Cost of Prison

On average, an older adult in prison costs 68,000 dollars a year compared to younger people which on average are 22,000 dollars (Reese, 2019). Recidivism is where people that have been released from prison are arrested and given a new sentence. The United States pours millions into the prison system ever year, and the recidivism rate within nine years of being released in 2005 is 83% (Alper, Durose, & Markman, 2018; Clarke, 2019). America is pouring money into an institution that does not work for the people most affected by it. Many flaws surround the incarceration system with limited in-depth information for change to happen. *Purpose*

There is limited research on the people who make up the prison system. The purpose of this review is to highlight some of the biggest challenges people face while incarcerated and thereafter. This literature review focuses on men that have been incarcerated at one point in their lives. There are 162,349 men currently live in jails or prisons which is 92.9% of the prison and jail population (Federal Bureau of Prisons, 2020). Although women's experiences while incarcerated are equally important and need to be heard, the major issues that these two groups face are very different. A separate literature review is necessary to evaluate the biggest issues for women while in prison. Many racial disparities go into why prisons are disproportionately composed of people of color; however, this literature review does not separate the issues for the men based on race. The studies used in this literature review were selected to encompass the major concerns for the men in the prisons across racial and ethnic groups.

Methods

Search Strategies

The purpose of this literature review is to establish reoccurring major issues with the prison system for men in America. When selecting the articles from databases, articles that attempted to show relationships between the incarceration system and the issue it addressed were selected. The literature review is limited to men who were in prison in the United States. Additionally, using keywords that were found to be consistent issues helped gather articles that could build off each other. There was an exclusion for all articles that were not peer-reviewed and between 2010 and 2020 to produce a current literature review. Additionally, the age restriction was not necessary because of a lack of research on juvenile detention centers; however, no studies include anyone younger than 16 years of age.

Different databases were used because the literature review focuses on different aspects of health and general social issues. This literature review used the following databases to find articles: The Multi-search tool in the UGA Galileo Library Database System, PubMed, PsycINFO, and CINAHL. The UGA Library database has a variety of very general articles and a good starting point for the literature review. The database had a lot of information about large studies conducted. PsycINFO is a database that specializes in psychology articles and was helpful for mental health and the overall health of the prisoners. PubMed was also an important database for the literature review because they have extensive articles of health and wellness for prisoners, specifically primary care. CINAHL was used for the literature review because they have extensive articles on public health, and this area is a major part of the incarceration system especially program-related work.

Multi-search tool in the UGA Galileo Library Database System

Using the Multi-Search Tool in the UGA Library Database seven articles were selected for this literature review. The following words were used to find the articles: "Incarceration or Prison System" AND "Overcrowding". Using the exclusion criterion of peer-reviewed articles only, 327 articles were found. To narrow the search down further, the terms "United States" AND "Violence" were added. Three articles were remaining, and one selected. In the same multi-search toolbar, there terms "Health" AND "Male or Man" AND "Incarceration or Prison" (Peer-reviewed) were used to narrow down the search. 796 articles were found to fit the criteria. Adding the "United States", limited the articles to 52. The first article was selected from the list there. The terms "Health access" AND "Male or Man" AND "Incarceration or Prison" (Peerreviewed) were used and 38 were left. Three articles were selected for this literature review. The terms "HIV" AND "Prison" AND "United States" AND "Male or Man" generated 20 articles. The fourth article was selected. Lastly, "Mental Health" AND "Aging" AND "United States" AND "Prison or Incarceration" were the terms used. From that search 14 articles were available, and the first article was selected.

PubMed

Using the PubMed Database, seven articles were selected for the literature review. The following search terms were used to find the selected articles: "Male or Men" AND "Medical OR Health" AND "Incarceration OR Prison" AND "United States" AND "Access" NOT "Women or Female". This search generated 38 articles, and five articles were selected. The second search was "Male or Men" AND "Mental health" AND "Incarceration" AND "United States" NOT "United States" NOT "Women or Female". These terms generated 78 articles, and one article was selected for the literature review.

PsycINFO

PsycINFO was another prominent database for the selection of articles. The search terms used for the database are listed here in which six articles were selected. "Incarceration OR Prison" AND "Obesity or Overweight" generated 45 articles, and the second article was selected. "Incarceration or Prison" AND "Recidivism" AND "United States" "Male or Man" *inclusion:* Academic Journals showed 45 articles that could be used and two were chosen. The terms: "Prison System" AND "United States" AND "Chronic illness" *exclusion*: men only produced four potential articles, and one was chosen. The terms "Mental health" AND "United States" AND "Incarceration OR Prison" generated 87 articles, and one was selected. "Incarceration OR Prison" AND "Aging" AND "United States" AND "Male or Men" produced 27 articles in which one article was selected.

CINAHL

One article was selected from the CINAHL database. Using the search terms: "Recidivism Factors" AND "United States" AND "Male or Man" 88 articles were generated.

Results

The target population for the literature review was men who had been imprisoned in the United States prison system at one point during their lives. Several major issues arose throughout the research process that these men faced while incarcerated. An overarching theme faced by the men was their state of health. This diverged into mental health, physical health, and access to healthcare with multiple facets within each construct. The other major issue that this group faced was the re-entry process and recidivism.

Health

Health is a broad term that will be broken down into smaller facets in this literature review as it pertains to the men affected. The major concerns for the men incarcerated under health are aging, physical health, mental health, access to healthcare, and overcrowding with violence.

Aging

Although aging is not something within a person's control, in the prison system aging is a major determinant of health status. Chronic diseases are prevalent in the incarceration system as there is a high percentage of aging prisoners. In a study on issues around aging in prison, it was found that 23.4% of the men have substance abuse issues, 23.6% of the men have chronic diseases, and 7.9% were found to be extremely unhealthy across sections (Nowotny, Cepeda, James-Hawkins, & Boardman, 2016). This data indicates that under half of the men in the study were considered healthy. It was found that older adults with chronic diseases were also the most likely to have a substance abuse issue or mental illness. Additionally, only aging was associated with physical impairments when compared to chronic diseases (Gates et al., 2018). People who struggle with behavioral health issues, substance issues, chronic diseases/ violent behavior are considered very unhealthy across all of these are more likely to have an unintended injury, intended injury, accidental injury, childhood trauma, and hepatitis (Nowotny et al., 2016). In an intervention study with a wellness plan program, older inmates were found to be most likely to complete the program which had statistical significance in decreases smoking and depressive symptoms (Clouse, Mannino, & Curd, 2012). Additionally, through focus groups, it was found that men in the aging population want more activities and programs that pertain to their fitness status as well as healthier dietary options (Loeb & Steffensmeier, 2011). In the same focus

group, some men reported separating prisons based on age would relieve stress while other men enjoyed co-existing with their younger peers. The men reported feeling healthier in prison because there was no access to drinking and drugs. However, some men perceived their health as worsening because of stress, overcrowding, violence, and stigma (Loeb & Steffensmeier, 2011).

Physical Health

Physical health in this literature review assesses the status of health for people with chronic, infectious, and acute diseases. In a study about readiness to re-enter society, the majority of people re-entering society regardless or mental health status were obese or overweight (70%) (Wolff, Shi, Fabrikant, & Schumann, 2012). In the same study, 60% of men without a mental illness reported gaining weight while incarcerated. As the men's BMIs increased, they became more likely to take medications for diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and arthritis (Wolff et al., 2012). This relationship increases for men with mental illness. Race is a health determinant just as being in the prison system is a health determinant. In a study comparing Black and White people and their health status in the prison system, 82% of the White participants recorded having one of the 16 health issues, and 77% of the Black participants recorded the same. Excluded from the previous reporting, the highest reported issues were flu-like symptoms and injuries (Rosen, Hammond, Wohl, & Golin, 2012). Although Black men had a lower prevalence of reported chronic diseases, once in the prison system Black men were most likely to diagnosed with a pre-existing condition (Rosen et al., 2012). In a sperate study on heart disease, non-Whites were more likely to have a poor blood pressure than White people (Fobian, Froelich, Sellers, Cropsey, & Redmond, 2018). Smoking is very prevalent for people who are incarcerated which can lead to further chronic diseases. In two separate studies, it was found that between 67-78% of the participants were current smokers (Clouse et al., 2012; Fobian et al., 2018). Fobian et al

showed that cardiovascular disease could be better prevented if smoking, BMI, diet, and blood pressure are targeted for people who have been incarcerated.

Human Immunodeficiency Virus is an infectious disease that has high a prevalence in the incarceration system. Men who have sex with men (MSM) are at high risk of contracting HIV. Although healthcare is a human right in the prison system, some men chose not to accept treatment or get tested because they felt a lack of safety, threat of violence, and/or scared that it would not be private. These results were produced in a qualitative study on HIV in prison (Culbert, 2014). In a study measuring HIV in men who have sex with men, they made three groups for comparison: prior incarceration within the year, prior incarceration longer than a year, and never incarcerated. People who had been in the prison system had a statically significant of a higher chance of alcohol abuse, illegal drug use, higher sexual risk within the past 12 months, and a detectable viral load (Khan et al., 2019). Men who left prison within the last year were more likely to have sex without a condom due to alcohol, drugs, and with a non-monogamous partner. The study also measured Hepatitis C (HCV) in which over half of the men who were incarcerated within the last year had this disease while 38.2% of the men who were incarcerated over a year ago currently have HCV (Khan et al., 2019). Comparing young (30 and younger) Black MSM, older (30 and over) Black MSM, non-Black MSM, and men who do not have sex with men, young Black MSM were less likely to find care within six months of being released. This group was also more likely to be homeless and without health insurance (Vagenas et al., 2016). Only 11.1% of young Black MSM had viral suppression at the baseline measurements which the lowest out of all the groups; however, this is not significant compared to the other groups. There were differing interventions between sites; however, post-release the viral suppression for each group increased (Vagenas et al., 2016).

Mental Health

A person's mental health and physical health affect their health status and each other. In a study measuring readiness to reenter, if men had a mental illness they had a significantly higher chance of reporting difficulty breathing, walking, and feeling intense pain compared to men who did not report a mental illness (Wolff et al., 2012). Men with mental illness were significantly less likely to define their health status as excellent and more likely to define their health is fair or good. Men who reported taking pain and cardiovascular medication were significantly more likely to be overweight and have a mental than overweight men without mental illness. Obese men with mental illness were more likely than obese men without mental illness to have medication for cardiovascular disease, intense pain, and arthritis (Wolff et al., 2012). The prison system has now become overwhelmed with the growing number of men with mental illness and does not have a sufficient method for treatment for the individuals affected (Al-Rousan, Rubenstein, Sieleni, Deol, & Wallace, 2017) In the Iowa correctional facilities, it was found that 46.6% of men had a mental illness (Al-Rousan et al., 2017). Males had high rates of impulse control disorders and dysthymia or neurotic depression, and White men had a high rate of having multiple mental conditions compared to Hispanics and Black people. People with mental disorders have a harder time acclimating to society once released and are at a higher risk of recidivism (Al-Rousan et al., 2017). A difference has emerged between jail and prison mental health. People in jail tend to have higher rates of depression, drinking excessively, and drug abuse (Yi, Turney, & Wildeman, 2017).

Having support while in prison from family members does not affect the mental health of people once released; however, family support or lack of it can affect their mental health post-release (Wallace et al., 2016). It was found that having poor family support was more meaningful

to the person's mental health status than positive family support (Wallace et al., 2016). If these support systems are weak then negative experiences could occur and negatively affect the person's mental health which in turn affects their chances of recidivism (Wallace et al., 2016; Woods, Lanza, Dyson, & Gordon, 2013).

Access to Healthcare

Under the eighth amendment, medical care is a human right for all people in the prison system. A study looking at the contrast of care for White and Black men, Black men were more likely to be treated inside the prison system than White men (Nowotny, 2017; Rosen et al., 2012). White people were 5% less likely to use the healthcare system inside the prison than Black people. Men reported that the jail system did not provide quality care by not looking into family history as potential health risks. (Hawkins, O'Keefe, & James, 2010). However, the men reported overall satisfaction with the prison's healthcare system. In a study on healthcare access for men incarcerated, approximately 13.9%-46.0% of men did not seek medical attention when they needed it (Nowotny, 2017). Men are less likely to seek health attention when there is intentional injury compared to an accidental injury (Nowotny, 2017). The facility can be a health determinant for an inmate and impact their health status and access (Nowotny, 2017).

Overcrowding & Violence

Overcrowding is where a prison has reached its maximum capacity which is typically measured in the amount of bed. In a study on overcrowding with violence, it was found that overcrowding did lead to misconduct which was measured in mark-up slips (Glazener & Nakamura, 2020). However, this was not supported when overcrowding continued to increase.

Insufficient Re-entry Support

Men re-entering back into society from prison report difficult transitions and recidivism. In a qualitative study on African American fathers, they assessed the biggest barriers these men have when entering back into society in which they stated that the first 30 days of re-entry was harder than prison itself (Skinner-Osei & Stepteau-Watson, 2018). The men reported many different issues they felt affected them most. These issues include unaddressed childhood trauma, low self-esteem, low self-worth, recidivism, and family issues. The men indicated a pressure to re-connect with the oldest children which can be difficult if they are not permitted to see their children for various reasons (Skinner-Osei & Stepteau-Watson, 2018). The men stated that the best part of the re-entry program was group therapy/ talk. The absence of family support is more detrimental to the person than the presence of it (Wallace et al., 2016). In a study about a program's effectiveness, there was a control group and the intervention group. The group who got the treatment and the control did not have significant differences social support, family support, friends support, and both groups had declines in family support throughout the study (Pettus-Davis et al., 2017). As the men's ages increased, there was significantly lower amounts of overall support from friends, financial support from friends, practical support, socializing support, and advice from friends. Age negatively affects social support post-release (Pettus-Davis et al., 2017).

Recidivism

In a study, comparing outcomes of recidivism for people who were put on parole and people who went to jail. The crimes in the study were similar. The article showed that people who were put on parole rather than sentenced had a lower rate of recidivism (Caudy, Tillyer, & Tillyer, 2018). Many different factors contribute to recidivism. For example, not participating in the re-

entry programs increased recidivism. Men were less likely to recidivate if they lived in transitional housing and participated in mentorships, community support, family support groups, and general support groups (Woods et al., 2013). If the men did not have the supports listed, they were more likely to recidivate.

Discussion

Summary of Findings

Through conducting this literature review, several themes have reoccurred that affect men inside and outside prison. By entering prison, these men are automatically predisposed to major health and social issues. Their physical and mental health are given limited attention because access to healthcare is varying across prisons and jails. Mental illness, physical health, and access to resources accumulate into poor health outcomes for the men. The social ramifications around re-entry into society and the risks of recidivism are being met with no standardized support system. Without new programs put in place, once these men are put into the prison system it seems statistically improbable to escape it.

Possible Solutions

Aging in the prison system is something America is going to have to deal with because the aging population is growing vastly. The cost of maintaining older prisoners is three times as expensive as younger prisoners (Reese, 2019). Chronic disease and co-occurring diseases are going to increase if there is not an intervention as already over 50% suffer from substance abuse, behavioral problems, diseases, and physical impairments (Nowotny et al., 2016). Men in prison reported having little interest in the activities offered (Loeb & Steffensmeier, 2011). Having different programs for the older inmates that are more appropriate to their physical needs is necessary as they are more likely to have physical impairments. Having shorter bunks and

wheelchair access for these men can greatly increase their quality of life. Having wheelchair accommodations for aging inmates is necessary for bigger cells, ramps, and bigger stalls (Office of the Inspector General, 2016). The use of campions as wheelchair pushers was seen as beneficial with acceptable monitoring of the relationship by the staff. Compassionate release is where people will submit an application to the Bureau of Prisons to ask for a release because of terminal illness (Reese, 2019). Using compassionate release and medical parole for ill and older inmates are definite ways to lessen the burden on the men and the system (Chiu, 2010).

Physical health is just as important in prison as it is in the rest of the world. The majority of inmates reported gaining weight while in prison and leaving obese or overweight (Wolff et al., 2012). A nine-month program inside an Italian correctional facility separated men into three groups for exercise: cardiovascular plus training (CRT), high-intensity strength training (HIST), and a control group in which there were no significant health differences between the three groups. The CRT workout had aerobic and resistance training which increased in duration over time. The CRT results were the most significant with improvements in BMI, systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein, and coronary. Participants in both the CRT group and the HIST group showed a significant increase in cardiorespiratory capacity and a decrease in cardiovascular disease (Battaglia et al., 2013). Programs and interventions focusing on physical health for male inmates are effective and need to be implanted for the entire prison population. Injury inflicted by others and self-injury are reoccurring issues across all prisons (Nowotny, 2017; Nowotny et al., 2016). A program called Guiding Rage into Power (GRIP) helps men in prison reduce violent acts through meditation (Cooley, 2019). Using mindfulness techniques helped build behavioral skills and helped build relationships with staff and peers. The program proved to lower violence in the prisons and the

longer the program the more beneficial they are to the inmates (Cooley, 2019). These programs are transferable among different facilities.

Mental illness affects health outcomes for people incarcerated. Working on lowering the recidivism rate is important because prison is costly, and people deserve to have better projected outcomes. Re-entry programs are also needed. Many of the reentry programs are dependent upon the state as many of them are non-profit. Although the costs are low or zero to enroll, they are not offered to everyone. However, stated in the results section, using parole as an alternative to a sentence reduces recidivism greatly. The Freedom Project (FP) tries to eliminate the systematic racism in the prison system by distributing information to prison staff (Cooley, 2019). They also offer re-entry programs to help integrate people back into society. The program saw a 16% reduction in recidivism 10-years after reentry. In a separate study, using employers as a resource was proven successful for getting a job for people who were formerly incarcerated, and an increase in income by 19.6% (Flatt & Jacobs, 2018).

Black men were less likely to report a chronic disease when entering prison or jail; however, once in prison, the men were more likely to be seen by the medical provider (Rosen et al., 2012). This represents how race is a health determinant as men of color have less access to medical professionals outside of prison, relying heavily on the medical system inside of prison. In the Nowotny 2017, there was evidence of inconsistent use of healthcare across prisons. It is unconstitutional for people in prison to not be guaranteed healthcare. This inconsistency of care could be due to co-pays. Co-pays are an amount a person in prison must pay to see a doctor which was enacted to deter unwarranted doctor visits. Co-pays come out to equal a person's entire monthly earnings (Sawyer, 2017). The typical wage per hour for a person in prison ranges from \$0.00-0.40 per hour, but co-pays in prison fall between \$0.00-\$7.50 (Sawyer, 2017). If a

person in the general population paid the equivalent to the copay per wage, they would spend hundreds or even a thousand dollars for a doctor's visit. This could explain why inmates are not seeking equal amounts of medical attention across facilities.

Although overcrowding did not lead to violence in the Glazener et al study, feelings of safety around physical harm and theft varied among correctional facilities with inmates reported feeling most scared in prisons with high gang activity. Additionally, a high inmate population correlated with feeling scared of the physical harm from the staff (Wolff & Jing, 2009). Comparing across genders, 20.7% of men and women reported inmate on inmate violence; however, men are significantly more likely to face inmate and staff violence over women (Wolff, Jing, & Siegel, 2009). As an extremely vulnerable group of people, the staff does not need to take physical force against the people in prison.

Re-entry and recidivism need support programs from prisons and external resources. When the men were entering back into society, they felt isolated and needed support from each other, the prison system, and their families. A lack of familial support negatively affected the men's mental health (Wallace et al., 2016). Recidivism has not been addressed by the government or the prison system in a great way.

In Maryland, a program called Community Mediation Maryland Re-entry Mediation (CMM) tried to bring families and inmates together to set up success post-release. The program is only available to people who seek mediation between themselves and their families as well as the family's consent. The program is six to 12 months before their release date and creates a safe place to communicate with the inmate and their family for a participant produced solution. A mediator is present to encourage engagement, open-communication, and listening. As this program requires consent from families and action taken by the inmate, men who may need this

resource do not use it or have it. The study showed 45% of the men in the intervention were rearrested compared to 58% of the control group and 56% of their cohort (Crime Solutions, 2017a). Although the study is promising because positive family support correlates with increased mental health, more dramatic changes are needed quickly.

With recidivism rates after nine years at 83%, the United States needs to address this major issue (Alper et al., 2018; Clarke, 2019). The programs currently offered in America are not getting consistently significant results to reduce recidivism and help re-entry. In England, the prison system created a program to help the participants control their behavior and reactions. The program is four to six weeks, two-hour sessions, and can have ten participants at a time. The program (Enhanced Thinking Skills) helps the men and women gain cognitive skills that help them reduce behavior that could allow them to recidivate, think critically, impulse control, interpersonal problem solving, and relapse prevention. They learn these skills and lessons by role-playing, exercises, and discussions. Three studies evaluated Enhanced Thinking Skills from 2003-2013 and all three studies demonstrated a significant decrease of offending behavior between the intervention group and the control group (Crime Solutions, 2017b).

Prison Reform

Prison reform is a widely used term for drastically changing the prison system. Reform could help alleviate the exuberant cost of the jails and prisons. The construct of a prison is to punish people for their crimes, yet once in the prison system, people cannot escape. In a qualitative study about Norway and the United States, guards from the US went to Norway to learn about new methods and their prison system. Once the guards returned to America, additional training lasted several weeks. From the experience, 78% of the guards stated they felt safe at work and 94% said they gained a new understanding of their job (Ahalt, Haney,

Ekhaugen, & Williams, 2020). The study also stated that the residents in the prison felt a positive change of support from the guards. Additionally, the guards reported better interactions with the violent inmates and allowed inmates to wear normal clothes on Father's Day. Overall, they reported feeling a positive change in how they view the people in prison (Ahalt et al., 2020). Alternatives to prison are a great way to decrease prison funding and recidivism. A program called Sanction Treatment Opportunity Progress (STOP) is for drug offenders who did not have the intent to sell or manufacture a controlled substance. The participants must plead guilty to be in the program, and if they graduate the charges will be dropped and possibly taken off their records. The men in STOP were significantly (61%) less likely to be rearrested compared to the control group over a 2-year period (Crime Solutions, 2011). No subsequent studies have been reported since this study in 1998; however, STOP continues to work with the court system. *Limitations*

As the review only includes 20 articles in the results section, it can be hard to encompass all the major issues for the men. Additionally, the incarceration system in America is underresearched with sample sizes that are not generalizable. While studies with large sample sizes are prevalent, there are issues with misrepresented data, outdated information, and self-report issues. The review also is trying to summarize major issues that affect a large part of the United States population. Many studies focus on a specific race as people of different races experience different outcomes. However, the purpose of this literature review is to find issues that affect all men in the prison system across race. Many of the studies selected for the review did not receive funding meaning their data came from the prisons making self-reporting a large limitation overall. Some studies included across several correctional facilities, but some studies had small

sample sizes and did not have a great tool for measurement making the results hard to quantify and compare.

Implications

Through this literature review, it is evident that the prison system has major flaws that need to be addressed. These issues need to be combatted with funding from the government to have programs that help reduce recidivism, having mental health interventions while sentencing, and major prison reform especially for the aging population. Prison reform in other countries has been proven successful in lowering recidivism, improving mental health, and other health issues.

Conclusion

The purpose of the review is to examine some of the biggest issue's men experience during and after incarceration. As 95% of state prisoners will be released from prison, there needs to be systems in place that allow them to be successful in life after prison (Hughes & Wilson, 2020). The prison system is a broken system that will eventually run out of money and resources. With the limited resources they do offer, there is not adequate support for men as they renter society. The prison system is failing American's by costing millions of tax paying dollars a year. The law states that people in prison have the right to medical access, but the quality of care is not sufficient. There has been extensive research on successful programming and prison reform outside the United States yet neither of these have been standardized across the nation. The system is doing a disservice to people with mental illness. The funding that goes into the prison system fixes a small part of the problem but does fix the actual problem enough to make difference for the 2.3 million people who are currently living in incarceration.

References

- Ahalt, C., Haney, C., Ekhaugen, K., & Williams, B. (2020). Role of a US–Norway Exchange in Placing Health and Well-Being at the Center of US Prison Reform. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110, S27-S29. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2019.305444
- Ahalt, C., Trestman, R. L., Rich, J. D., Greifinger, R. B., & Williams, B. A. (2013). Paying the Price: The Pressing Need for Quality, Cost, and Outcomes Data to Improve Correctional Health Care for Older Prisoners(11), 2013. Retrieved from <u>http://proxy-</u> remote.galib.uga.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db= edsgih&AN=edsgcl.350200194&site=eds-live
- Al-Rousan, T., Rubenstein, L., Sieleni, B., Deol, H., & Wallace, R. B. (2017). Inside the nation's largest mental health institution: a prevalence study in a state prison system. *BMC Public Health*, 17, 1-9. doi:10.1186/s12889-017-4257-0
- Alper, M., Durose, M. R., & Markman, J. (2018). 2018 update on prisoner recidivism: a 9-year follow-up period (2005-2014): U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Battaglia, C., di Cagno, A., Fiorilli, G., Giombini, A., Fagnani, F., Borrione, P., . . . Pigozzi, F. (2013). Benefits of Selected Physical Exercise Programs in Detention: A Randomized Controlled Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(11), 5683-5696. doi:10.3390/ijerph10115683
- Caudy, M. S., Tillyer, M. S., & Tillyer, R. (2018). Jail versus probation: A gender-specific test of differential effectiveness and moderators of sanction effects. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 45(7), 949-968. doi:10.1177/0093854818766375
- Center for Disease Control. (2020). Adult Overweight and Obesity Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/causes.html</u>
- Chiu, T. (2010). *It's About Time: Aging Prisoners, Increasing Costs, and Geriatric Release*. Retrieved from Vera Institute of Justice
- Clarke, M. (2019). Long-Term Recidivism Studies Show High Arrest Rates. *Prison Legal News*, 60. Retrieved from <u>https://www.prisonlegalnews.org/news/2019/may/3/long-term-recidivism-studies-show-high-arrest-rates/</u>

- Clouse, M. L., Mannino, D., & Curd, P. R. (2012). Investigation of the correlates and effectiveness of a prison-based wellness program. *Journal of correctional health care : the official journal of the National Commission on Correctional Health Care, 18*(3), 184-197. doi:10.1177/1078345812445028
- Cooley, C. (2019). Escaping the Prison of Mind: Meditation as Violence Prevention for the Incarcerated. *Health Promotion Practice*, 20(6), 798-800. doi:10.1177/1524839919869924
- Crime Solutions. (2011). Program Profile: Multnomah County (Ore.) Sanction Treatment Opportunity Progress (STOP) Drug Diversion Program. Retrieved from <u>https://www.crimesolutions.gov/ProgramDetails.aspx?ID=128</u>
- Crime Solutions. (2017a). Program Profile: Community Mediation Maryland Re-Entry Mediation. Retrieved from <u>https://www.crimesolutions.gov/ProgramDetails.aspx?ID=528</u>
- Crime Solutions. (2017b). Program Profile: Enhanced Thinking Skills (England). Retrieved from <u>https://www.crimesolutions.gov/ProgramDetails.aspx?ID=532</u>
- Cropsey, K. L., Binswanger, I. A., Brendan Clark, C., & Taxman, F. S. (2012, 2012). *The Unmet Medical Needs of Correctional Populations in the United States*, United States.
- Culbert, G. J. (2014). Violence and the perceived risks of taking antiretroviral therapy in US jails and prisons. *International Journal of Prisoner Health*, *10*(2), 94-110. doi:10.1108/IJPH-05-2013-0020
- Federal Bureau of Prisons. (2020). Inmate Gender. Retrieved from https://www.bop.gov/about/statistics/statistics_inmate_gender.jsp
- Flatt, C., & Jacobs, R. L. (2018). The relationship between participation in different types of training programs and gainful employment for formerly incarcerated individuals. In (Vol. 29, pp. 263-286).
- Fobian, A. D., Froelich, M., Sellers, A., Cropsey, K., & Redmond, N. (2018). Assessment of Cardiovascular Health among Community-Dwelling Men with Incarceration History. *Journal Of Urban Health: Bulletin Of The New York Academy Of Medicine*, 95(4), 556-563. doi:10.1007/s11524-018-0289-8

- Gates, M. L., Hunter, E. G., Dicks, V., Jessa, P. N., Walker, V., & Yoo, W. (2018). Multimorbidity patterns and associations with functional limitations among an aging population in prison. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 77, 115-123. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2018.03.012
- Glazener, E., & Nakamura, K. (2020). Examining the Link Between Prison Crowding and Inmate Misconduct: Evidence from Prison-Level Panel Data. JQ: Justice Quarterly, 37(1), 109-131. doi:10.1080/07418825.2018.1495251
- Hawkins, A. S., O'Keefe, A. M., & James, X. (2010). Health care access and utilization among ex-offenders in Baltimore: implications for policy. *Journal of health care for the poor and underserved*, *21*(2), 649-665. doi:10.1353/hpu.0.0287
- Hughes, T., & Wilson, D. J. (2020). Reentry Trends In The U.S. Retrieved from https://www.bjs.gov/content/reentry/reentry.cfm
- Khan, M. R., McGinnis, K. A., Grov, C., Scheidell, J. D., Hawks, L., Edelman, E. J., . . . Wang, E. A. (2019). Past year and prior incarceration and HIV transmission risk among HIV-positive men who have sex with men in the US. *AIDS Care*, *31*(3), 349-356. doi:10.1080/09540121.2018.1499861
- Loeb, S. J., & Steffensmeier, D. (2011). Older Inmates' Pursuit of Good Health: A Focus Group Study. *Research in gerontological nursing*, 4(3), 185-194. doi:10.3928/19404921-20100730-01
- Macmadu, A., & Rich, J. D. (2015). Correctional Health Is Community Health. Retrieved from <u>https://issues.org/correctional-health-is-community-health/</u>
- Maruschak, L., Berzofsky, M., & Unangst, J. (2015). Medical Problems of State and Federal Prisoners and Jail Inmates, 2011-2012. In *Medical Problems of State and Federal Prisoners and Jail Inmates*, 2011-2012.
- Nellis, A. (2016). *The Color of Justice: Racial and Ethnic Disparity in State Prisons*. Retrieved from The Sentencing Project: <u>https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/color-of-justice-racial-and-ethnic-disparity-in-state-prisons/</u>
- Nowotny, K. M. (2017). Health care needs and service use among male prison inmates in the United States: A multi-level behavioral model of prison health service utilization. *Health & Justice*(1), 1. doi:10.1186/s40352-017-0052-3

- Nowotny, K. M., Cepeda, A., James-Hawkins, L., & Boardman, J. D. (2016). Growing old behind bars: Health profiles of the older male inmate population in the United States. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 28(6), 935-956. doi:10.1177/0898264315614007
- NPR. (2007). Timeline: America's War on Drugs. *The Forgotten War on Drugs*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=9252490</u>
- Office of the Inspector General. (2016). The Impact of an Aging Inmate Population on the Federal Bureau of Prisons. Retrieved from <u>https://oig.justice.gov/reports/2015/e1505.pdf</u>
- Pearl, B. (2018). Ending the War on Drugs: By the Numbers. Retrieved from <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/criminal-justice/reports/2018/06/27/452819/ending-war-drugs-numbers/</u>
- Pettus-Davis, C., Dunnigan, A., Veeh, C. A., Howard, M. O., Scheyett, A. M., & Roberts-Lewis, A. (2017). Enhancing social support postincarceration: Results from a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 73(10), 1226-1246. doi:10.1002/jclp.22442
- Psick, Z., Ahalt, C., Brown, R., & Simon, J. (2017). Policy boomers: Policy implications of the aging prison population. *Prison Health*, *13*(1), 57-63. doi:10.1108/IJPH-09-2016-0053
- Reese, H. (2019). What Should We Do about Our Aging Prison Population? . Retrieved from <u>https://daily.jstor.org/what-should-we-do-about-our-aging-prison-population/</u>
- Rosen, D. L., Hammond, W. P., Wohl, D. A., & Golin, C. E. (2012). Disease prevalence and use of health care among a national sample of black and white male state prisoners. *Journal of health care for the poor and underserved*, 23(1), 254-272. Retrieved from https://doi-org.proxy-remote.galib.uga.edu/10.1353/hpu.2012.0033
- Sawyer, W. (2017). The steep cost of medical co-pays in prison puts health at risk. Retrieved from <u>https://www.prisonpolicy.org/blog/2017/04/19/copays/</u>
- Schnittker, J., Uggen, C., Shannon, S. K., & McElrath, S. M. (2015). The Institutional Effects of Incarceration: Spillovers From Criminal Justice to Health Care., 93(3), 516-560. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12136.
- Skinner-Osei, P., & Stepteau-Watson, D. (2018). A qualitative analysis of African American fathers' struggle with reentry, recidivism, and reunification after participation in re-entry

programs. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 28*(2), 240-255. doi:10.1080/10911359.2017.1402724

- The Sentencing Project. (2018). *Report to the United Nations on Racial Disparities in the U.S. Criminal Justice System*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/un-report-on-racial-disparities/</u>
- Vagenas, P., Zelenev, A., Altice, F. L., Di Paola, A., Jordan, A. O., Teixeira, P. A., . . . Springer, S. A. (2016). HIV-infected men who have sex with men, before and after release from jail: the impact of age and race, results from a multi-site study. *AIDS Care*, 28(1), 22-31. doi:10.1080/09540121.2015.1062464
- Wagner, P., & Sawyer, W. (2018). States of Incarceration: The Global Context 2018. Retrieved from https://www.prisonpolicy.org/global/2018.html
- Wallace, D., Fahmy, C., Cotton, L., Jimmons, C., McKay, R., Stoffer, S., & Syed, S. (2016). Examining the role of familial support during prison and after release on postincarceration mental health. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 60(1), 3-20. doi:10.1177/0306624X14548023

Wolff, N., & Jing, S. (2009). Feelings of Safety Inside Prison Among Male Inmates With Different Victimization Experiences. *Violence & Victims*, 24(6), 800. Retrieved from <u>http://proxy-</u> remote.galib.uga.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db= edo&AN=45387300&site=eds-live

- Wolff, N., Jing, S., & Siegel, J. A. (2009). Patterns of Victimization Among Male and Female Inmates: Evidence of an Enduring Legacy. *Violence & Victims*, 24(4), 469. Retrieved from <u>http://proxy-</u> remote.galib.uga.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db= edo&AN=43565939&site=eds-live
- Wolff, N., Shi, J., Fabrikant, N., & Schumann, B. E. (2012). Obesity and weight-related medical problems of incarcerated persons with and without mental disorders. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, 18(3), 219-232. doi:10.1177/1078345812445270
- Woods, L. N., Lanza, A. S., Dyson, W., & Gordon, D. M. (2013). The Role of Prevention in Promoting Continuity of Health Care in Prisoner Reentry Initiatives. 103(5), 830-838. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300961

Yi, Y., Turney, K., & Wildeman, C. (2017). Mental Health Among Jail and Prison Inmates. *American journal of men's health*, 11(4), 900-909. doi:10.1177/1557988316681339